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9(2)(a)

| refer to your request received on 5 July 2019, which has been considered under the
Official Information Act 1982 (OIA), for records that document successive
governments’ attempts to return Te Motunui Epa to Aotearoa in 2005 and 2007.

Your request involves a substantial number of documents. To release the documents
the Ministry would need to withhold much of the information and to carry out substantial
research and consultation which would have impaired efficient administration for the
Ministry. We have therefore responded to your request by summarising information
we can release to you in the attached document.

The following information has been withheld from the summary document in full under
one or more of the following sections of the OIA, as applicable:

° section 9(2)(a) — to protect the privacy of natural persons

° section 9(2)(g)(i) — to maintain the effective conduct of public affairs through the
free and frank expression of opinions

o section 9(2)(h) — to maintain legal professional privilege

o section 9(2)(j) - enable a Minister of the Crown or any department or organisation
holding the information to carry on, without prejudice or disadvantage,
negotiations (including commercial and industrial negotiations).

In addition, some information has been withheld where it is not within the scope of
your request.

The reasons for withholding information are not outweighed by other considerations
that render it desirable, in the public interest, to make that information available.

You have the right to seek an investigation and review by the Ombudsman of this
decision. Information about how to make a complaint is available at
www.ombudsman.parliament.nz or freephone 0800 802 602.

Please note that we intend to publish this letter (with your personal details removed)
on the Ministry’s website.

Yours sincerely

4%72;‘2

.,
Jonathan Easthope
Director Policy (Acting)
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Official Information Act RESPONSE: BESIAIEY Motunui

Panels — Summary of information available for release

This detailed summary provides an overview of all records held by the Ministry for Culture and
Heritage (the Ministry) documenting successive attempts to repatriate Te Motunui Epa (the
Panels) back to New Zealand following offers for the New Zealand Government to purchase the
Panels in 2005 and 2007. Please note that all documents held in relation to these negotiations
are summarised. Some documents are as in draft form and may include inaccuracies or
information that was not used by the Ministry. The summary notes documen s e this

applies. Text in this summary paraphrases the original documents and does e direct
quotes,

The history of the Panels is referred to often throughout this summary ocuments held
by the Ministry use the same historic background which is attached te t at Appendix 1.

2005 Documents

Please note that no documents were identified in the M ?\ ?[is/from 2005.

2006 Documents

1 Background paper — The Motunui P@@?ﬁ;{:&(m “Ortiz” Case — 7 April 2006

In summary, the background pap rpt of the history of the Panels. The
document described the Panels E e masterpjece of Maori art. The paper outlined that

the Panels were dug up from
In 1978 the Motunui Pans\% pukup 1Qr sale at Sotheby’s auction house in London
e

w

which prompted the Crow ssu eedings in the English Courts in an attempt to

recover the Panels. alm r the Panels failed in the House of Lords on the
grounds that the pll glsIation did not automatically vest title to illegally
exported artef

2 Internal fa le Return and Restitution of Cultural Property — The
Tarana % a tudy in the recovery of Cultural Heritage by R. R Carter -
date o ctober 2006

sent within the Mlnlstry with a copy of an article by R. R. Carter, the
_ was published in 1982 and is publicly available here:
elibrarv.wilev.comldoilabsm 0.1111/.1468-0033.1982.tb00407 .x.

priefing paper prepared by the Museum of New Zealand Te Papa Tongarewa
995 — sent to the Ministry for information to provide background context — 6
November 2006

In summary, in 2006 Te Papa Tongawera Museum of New Zealand (Te Papa) provided the
Ministry with a copy of a briefing paper it prepared in 1995 to the former Minister for Cultural
Affairs (this title is now the Minister for Arts, Culture and Heritage). The briefing paper
provided background information to the Minster on attempts to have the Panels returned to
New Zealand.

In summary, the 1995 paper described that all avenues to have the Panels returned were
exhausted by 1983. Negotiations by the New Zealand Government at the time were
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exhausted on the basis that George Ortiz, as the possessor, resisted negotiation attempts.
The paper also noted that George Ortiz was likely aware of the Panels being illegally
exported. The New Zealand Government incurred significant legal costs due to court
proceedings before the House of Lords. International protocols for the return were not
acceded to the New Zealand Government during this court case. The historical paper
confirmed that in 1995 Te Papa officials met with representatives of George Ortiz who
confirmed the Panels were for sale. George Ortiz stated at the time that he would be
interested in selling the Panels to the Government if they were to recognise him as the
rightful owner, which the Government declined to do. Ongoing negotiations were kept
confidential to reduce the risk of George Ortiz potentially withdrawing his offer. The original
briefing recommended different sources of funding be explored including: ‘ \f

e Purchase by a Third Party — the briefing advised that this could b &g s a neutral
source of funds. Getty Museums in Los Angeles was intereste @s}isting and had
a tradition of assisting in the care and protection of internatk%%}ss gnificant cultural
heritage. The briefing recommended iwi may regard this &€ the most acceptable
option but that further consultation would need to take place td establish that,

e Corporate Sponsorship — corporate sponsorship ollid.not be appropriate given the

ﬁl}he paper recommended
that due to the significance of the Pafiélg to AtigWga"it could form part of the
Crown's the Treaty settlement negatiations Wi hehwr However, this was likely to
be perceived negatively as essen &i\wculd t;é“r( =returning an object to for which
they had never relinquished o inership. Thie paper noted there would therefore be
some risk if funds were setse e Atiawa Treaty settlement to pay for

The briefing concluded by f - if the Government wished to pursue the
purchase of the Panels that,Te Atlawa e consulted as the first step. Te Papa suggested
that it assist the Goveprme nt with ultation and the repatriation of the Panels.

er‘original records from earlier attempts to repatriate this

@ brtefmg — New developments - BR2006/825 - 7

\ef' in ; & ed information in preparation for the then Minister for Arts, Culture and
: @ elen Clark's, visit to Europe in 2006. The briefing was the first of its kind
WOt pisterand it provided significant background history on the Panels. Please refer to

lefing advised that the Ministry had been contacted, in March 2005, by a
representative from the Musée du quai Branly in Paris. The museum professional had an
ongoing working relationship with George Ortiz and was familiar with the case of the Panels.
The Musée du quai Branly mentioned at this time that should they encounter George Ortiz
that they would register New Zealand's interest in the Panels but advised the Ministry to
proceed with caution.

The Ministry informed Minister Clark that the Ministry had been contacted by a New
Zealand-based businessman regarding an approach to him by an Australian art dealer. The
art dealer had allegedly been approached by George Ortiz in relation to the sale of the
Panels. George Ortiz was reportedly seeking USD20 million for the sale of the Panels, a
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sum well beyond the reach of any New Zealand party. The Ministry advised the Minister of
the cultural significance of the Panels, outlined that consulting with Te Atiawa would be a
crucial first step should the decision be to proceed with negotiating to purchase the Panels
and secure their return.

The briefing concluded by informing the Minister that this topic was likely to be raised with
her during her trip to Europe. Should that be the case, then she was advised to proceed
with caution as the next steps for the Government were not yet clear.

Note: The documents from 2005 referred to in this summary were not located inour search
or in archives. Therefore, we are unable to supply these in response to your é@;@f

Emails arranging Minister Clark’s visit to Paris — 16 November 2oo§)\

An email from the Ministry to a museum professional from the ’b\ quai Branly. In
summary, the purpose of the email chain was to confirm Minister % visit to the museum
during her upcoming visit to Europe. The museum profession@{o ed the Ministry that
they had met George Ortiz and advised that Ortiz had comngented#that the Panels were not
for sale unless a sum of USD20 million was offered b esentative noted that this

would need further exploration.

2007 Documents ,( (1/

X

6 Email George Ortiz’ Australian art dea ate 2007
An email which confirmed that the %ﬁhl cutlve had spoken with the Australian
art dealer by phone. The art dealgfthad)confinfied he’had approached some private buyers
to assist the New Zealand e purchase the Panels. The Ministry
requested the art dealer I in w to the Ministry to ensure no one was
misunderstood or misled. “\

7 her developments — BR2007/3151 — June 2007

and tha |
‘ tiv

rom George Ortiz’s Australian art dealer — 24 May
2007

Motunui Pataka @neﬂ §: F
briefing included%/

This briefin pert
Australi . May 2007 to confirm the Panels were for sale for USD8 million
torage and available for viewing by New Zealand Government

sewas reportedly a guess and was no longer accurate, the new price of USD8 million
was'th® price quoted by George Ortiz. The art dealer recommended to the Ministry that a
privaté consortium of donors be established to purchase the Panels. The art dealer also
claimed to be trying to sell to other parties globally. The briefing highlighted that a number
of issues were unclear, including if the art dealer had contacted private buyers and had a
selection of private buyers in mind who might have assisted the Government. The paper
recommended that Te Papa take the lead on negotiations with George Ortiz/ the art dealer
and the first step was to clarify all aspects of the proposal. Te Papa, having been involved
in all earlier negotiations, and having the appropriate expertise and knowledge, was best
placed to lead these discussions. Te Papa’s collections acquisitions budget of NZD3 million
was also highlighted as a possible avenue of funding. The briefing mentioned the possibility
that the Panels be allocated towards a future Treaty settlement with Te Atiawa. The briefing
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raised the importance for Te Atiawa to be consulted on their view, especially regarding the
concept of having to purchase the Panels from George Ortiz who in Te Atiawa’s view was
never the rightful owner of the taonga. The briefing sought final agreement from Minister
Clark to allow Te Papa to act on behalf of the Government to clarify further details with the
art dealer and to consult with Te Atiawa. A further briefing followed once this was completed
(refer to summary of Briefing paper BR2007/695 at summary number 29).

8 Motunui Panels background for Te Papa — 13 June 2007 and letter to Te Papa Chief
Executive — 21 June 2007

This paper was addressed to Te Papa from the Ministry for Culture and Heritaye's* Chief
Executive, outlining the history of the Panels from 1972 — 2007 (refer to A ix 1). The
paper provided a very detailed history and outlined previous efforts w Zealand
Government to return the Panels to the New Zealand Government in 995 and more
recently. The paper outlined details in the previous briefings tot r (BR2006/825
and BR2007/315) and notified Te Papa that they were mand lead the negotiations

to return the Panels.

The letter requested Te Papa's assistance to return the Pan cknowledgmg them as the
organisation with the appropriate expertise. The Ietter{ advised that no decision had yet
been taken about whether the Government would pu oé Panels and that the next
step was to gather the full information from GeoydeOrtiz a dﬁﬂ%presentatives. Minister
Clark had instructed the Ministry on the importé "‘"s.; of est the full picture and most
importantly the view of Te Atiawa towards the p g{}g before proceeding with
negotiations. The letter outlined the Im ee. of ke e iwi involved in discussions.
The letter requested that Te F’apa Iea S& co unlcl%’lons

9 Email chain between the Minis 1 Pap an George Ortiz’s Australian art dealer —

5 — 6 July 2007

a oae conversation between the Ministry and Te
oIIowmg steps be undertaken:

Papa. In summary, it qgreed_ 2
- Te Papa to@ ﬁ; edler to confirm details of his proposal

- Te Papg an ropean-based conservator to view the Panels at the

Mini cost ?x
- s’&{?l?try to ge a meeting between the Associate Minister for Arts, Culture
rit R ahara Okeroa, and Te Atiawa representatives
%24& ontact its representative from Musée du quai Branly to request the
im'gontact George Ortiz regarding his collection

2pa 16 follow up with an email to the art dealer to confirm interest in the Panels
initially arrange a conservator to assess the Panels before proceeding.

A confirmation email chaim o!l wm

10 Em%%mm George Ortiz’s Australian art dealer — 9 July 2007

This email from Te Papa to the Ministry confirms that Te Papa followed up on the art dealer's
original email and arranged a viewing of the Panels and to establish some further
information regarding their sale. The art dealer’s response confirmed that the Panels were
still for sale but as it had been some time since his initial communication, he had offered the
Panels for sale to other interested parties, both privately and also to other institutions
including the National Gallery (NGA) in Australia. The art dealer again proposed that
perhaps the Panels be purchased by a consortium of buyers and suggested the
Government approach notable private collectors in New Zealand. The art dealer attached
a copy of the letter he had sent to the NGA offering the Panels for sale. In his letter to the
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11

12

13

NGA, the art dealer notes the history of the Panels. He also compared the Panels to the
Pierre Vérité Fang Mask which sold for USD8 million to demonstrate the expected sale price
for such items.

Note: The Ministry holds no further documents relating to this communication with other
potential private and institutional buyers.

Minutes of meeting with Associate Minister for Arts, Culture and Heritage’s office —
16 July 2007

Summary of minutes of a meeting held with Associate Minister for Arts, Cultur Writage
Okeroa. Attendees included ministerial officials and Ministry representatives. eeting
discussed the approach from George Ortiz's Australian art dealer offeri K@ the Panels
to the New Zealand Government. Initial concerns were raised a the art dealer's
authenticity and if he had the mandate from George Ortiz to entep/d] jons with other
parties or if he was acting alone. Associate Minister Oke% quested that this be

At the meeting discussions took place regarding a@d happened in previous
government efforts to return the Panels. It was confirmgd that Department of Internal Affairs
and Te Papa led previous engagement in the 1980 er Jittle record is kept from this

i I :bp so the same people

investigated.

h
time. Associate Minister Okeroa requested tha be fo
could continue to be involved, especially fro Atfaw agreed that the first step
would be to establish the right contacts an@erec apu% e Atiawa that were involved
initially.

The next step was for Te Papa torafnge a va-based conservator to assess the
condition of the Panels. The Mi agreﬁtgpay for the conservator's assessment.
Associate Minister Okeroa -'h ed as saying consultation with Te Atiawa
would take place when more Thfogmation w%bar about the condition of the Panels. It was
also agreed Te Papa woulthatténd the Wextneeting — the meeting was confirmed for later
that same week. It T@graed p with Te Papa and discuss possible funding

¢l

options for the purc

Note: The Min% unﬁ \t%‘!ocate further notes or minutes from the second meeting
mm

referred to ig.th %

Action@kela@by the Ministry for Arts, Culture and Heritage — 16 July 2007
ry, .Qo‘p'ed an action plan, following the meeting summarised above, with
ic)

n outlined a step-by-step process starting from receipt of the initial offer
om t dealer. This was to be followed by the conservator's assessment, then
co %ﬁ n with iwi and establishing a confirmed line of communication with George Ortiz.
Foll g these steps, the outcomes would be collated to enable advice to Cabinet on
whether to proceed with negotiations to purchase the Panels.

T{é ipidt
Q opiate ,Minister Okeroa. This plan forecasted that the project would be a nine-week
ess%

Arts Culture and Heritage Fortnightly Ministerial Report week ending - 20 July 2007

The Ministry’s fortnightly update to Minister Clark confirmed that Te Papa had been
following up on the proposal from George Ortiz's Australian art dealer proposal that the
Panels be purchased for USD8 million. The update also highlighted the need for greater
clarity on a number of issues before an offer could be made. The update confirmed that
Associate Minister Okeroa had met with Te Papa and would be consulting with Te Atiawa
to gain an understanding of the iwi's position on issues relating to return of the Panels.
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14

16

16

17

18

Emails between Te Papa and the Ministry for Culture and Heritage regarding
engaging an external conservator — 24 July 2007

Emails with the purpose of arranging payment for the external conservator in Switzerland.
The emails agreed that the Ministry would cover the costs of the evaluation of the Panels,
the agreed cost was NZD3,400, and it would be paid on receipt of the completed
conservator’s report.

Emails between Te Papa, the Ministry for Culture and Heritage and conservator in
Switzerland assessing the Panels — 28 July — 9 August 2007

Summary of an email chain regarding the inspection of the Panels and whi?ayct the

warehouse
- the report was received by Te Papa on 8 August 2007
were in very good condition and confirmed the har

report update confirmed Q
- the Panels were inspected by the conservator on 27 July ZI{Q% eneva Freeport

i noted that the Panels
py’of the report was to be

couriered f
- that engagement with Te Atiawa would proce

The remainder of the email chain was about arr. nai smeg%eframe for consultation

and engagement to take place.
@» Augu?t\ZODT

A thorough condition report of the Pa sl grovidedMo the Ministry for Culture and Heritage
by the conservator based in Switzghand . The ondijtion report outlined each individual panel
in great detail, including the st% '

at make up the whole Pataka, and any
cracks or irregularities. The % into detail to explain the storage location,
security and environmental‘¢onditiops. ‘Qverall

)s.‘Qverall, the condition report stated that the Panels
were in good conditio that whi ‘1v needed cleanlng and some superficial work they
were in a stable ,; i The 8

travel.

Condition report for the Panels — July,

a Would be meeting with Te Atiawa representatives later in August 2007 and

A ssessment confirmed the Panels were in good condition. Associate
(o}
ould follow the meeting (refer to the summary of BR2007/695 at summary

Mo%i Panels summary of facts — 17 August 2007

This Ministry of Culture and Heritage internal paper provided a summary of the history of
the Panels (see Appendix 1) and New Zealand Government involvement from 1972-2007.
The paper discussed the various attempts made by successive Governments to return the
Panels, court proceedings, and information related to the development of the Antiquities Act
(1975) and Protected Objects Act (1975). The paper included background information and
contact details for the key parties involved in the earlier efforts to return the Panels.
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19 Motunui Panels briefing - Preparation for meeting with Te Atiawa - BR2007/494 — 24

20

21

23

August 2007

This briefing to Associate Minister Okeroa provided advice in preparation for his meeting
with Te Atiawa on 29 August 2007. The purpose of the discussion was to ascertain an
understanding of what Te Atiawa’s position might be in relation to the return of the Panels.
The Ministry was concerned that to enter negotiations and potentially purchase the Panels
would indicate that George Ortiz was the natural owner of the Panels, when Te Atiawa was
the rightful owner. The paper raised potential points for conversation with Te Atiawa to
gauge their view towards the possibility of purchasing of the Panels including:

- would Te Atiawa support the Government purchasing the Panels? ?\é/
- who should have formal ownership? \
- where should the final resting place be? \
The briefing paper advised Associate Minister Okeroa that on @positions of both Te
ﬁbw pdating the Minister

Atiawa and George Ortiz were known, a further briefing would

on options on how to proceed (refer to summary BR2007/6 W number 29).

Minutes from Associate Minister Okeroa’s meeti ith Te Atiawa representatives—
29 August 2007 \g\
The meeting minutes outlined the discussions n A fateé Minister Okeroa and Te

return of the Panels, irrespective of wher: een George Ortiz and the iwi.

s

Atiawa representatives. The minutes reflected that Te Ati% resentatives supported the
eézwship shiﬁ

Te Atiawa stated that the ownership galtl re&zd ofice the Panels were returned. Te

Atiawa expressed its preference foptk els fo%gmain in the rohe, however it said that
iels onfshogt-térm loan. Again this would be finalised
once the return was secured. TevAt omipated a representative for meetings with
George Ortiz/his Australian ax dealer. Tr?%vernment notified the iwi that George Ortiz
was seeking USD8 miIIion\ahat theéxGovernment would not be able to make an offer of
otiate rice with George Ortiz and his representatives.

that scale but hoped t
Arts, Culture an ﬁ ightly Ministerial Report week ending 31 August 2007
- BR2007/512

This upd teﬁbwded %ter Clark confirmed that Associate Minister Okeroa had met
with T rep: ives on 29 August. Te Atiawa confirmed the importance of the
retu% a requested that all steps possible be taken to secure their return.

e Papa and the Ministry for Culture and Heritage — 20 September

%een Te Papa and the Ministry regarding an internal assessment and informal

valu of the Panels. The Ministry requested a formal market price indication for the
Panels. The email provided confirmation that a paper discussing the market value of the
Panels would follow and noted that this was an internal assessment by Te Papa only and it
could not be used as an independent market valuation.

File Note: Telephone discussion with museum professional from a university in the
United Kingdom — 25 September 2007

This Ministry file note included talking points prepared for a phone conversation with a
museum professional from a university in the United Kingdom. The professional was an
acquaintance of George Ortiz's and had offered assistance with negotiations to return the
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Panels. The file note outlined the Government’s view that the Panels had been illegally
exported, subsequently having an impact on the value placed on the Panels.

The file note listed a set of questions which were posed to the museum professional. The
questions were:

- how would the museum professional be able to assist?
- how best to proceed with negotiations with George Ortiz?
- were they aware of any other interested buyers?

The paper also referred to the history of the Panels, refer to Appendix 1. ?}f
24 Arts, Culture and Heritage Fortnightly Ministerial Report week end@ 007/588 -

28 September 2007

Fortnightly update provided to Minister Clark that confirmed a ¢ @een the Ministry and
the museum professional from a university in the United Kifigdont had taken place to
discuss making an offer for the return of the Panels. f

Note: The update was followed by a formal briefing w ih.outlined the parameters of future
negotiations with George Ortiz (please refer to sumiary’ of ﬁOOT/ﬁQﬁ at number 29

Motunui Panels — 4 October 2007 F\

Summary of emails between the Mipis{h{ apid e’ga%a requesting to use Te Papa’s internal
assessment as a market valuatiqrfi, Te )Papa Adviged the Ministry that it could not be used

as a formal market valuation unlésshén %@aluation was also completed. Te Papa

noted that one of the bigge o take\iptoraccount was that the value was significantly
th

below).
25 Email between Te Papa and the Minisig}’&cult I‘e Heritage — valuation of

less than anticipated, due naturéof how the Panels were acquired, and their alleged
illegal ownership statuge,

)

fe:

gmy N\ 1
This file no g@ed kgfeund on a meeting between the Ministry for Culture and
Heritage's Deputy Chi g‘ cltive (DCE) and the museum professional from the Musée du
quai Bré mmenting that the DCE had provided the museum with a draft version of the

e
c
brief;gg ér [ggz 695]. The file note also mentioned that Te Papa needed to verify
the'v I,%g’of the %ﬁ"é‘ls with an assessment from an external source, and that ministerial
%i;s fould

Ortiz and Motunui Pataka Panels — 4 October 2007

e needed for that to proceed.

;7 rts, G {@e and Heritage Fortnightly Ministerial Report - Friday 12 October 2007

Forthi htly update provided to Minister Clark that a briefing paper updating her on the
negotiation process would soon be provided [BR2007/695].

28 Emails between Te Papa and the Ministry for Culture and Heritage re Motunui Panels’
valuation assessment follow up — 12 November 2007

The purpose of this email chain between Te Papa and the Ministry was to establish a
guide to use for the valuation of the Motunui Panels. The emails provided background
that it was difficult to establish a value for the Panels as they were the first purchase of
this kind for the New Zealand Government. Te Papa noted some previous international
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sales of Maori taonga as an indicative guide many of which sold for over double the
reserve price.

In the email chain, the Ministry also noted that the Motunui Panels would be priced
differently due to being constrained by the Protected Objects Act (1975) and the alleged
illicit purchase of the Panels.

29 BR2007/695 Motunui Panels — Future Action — 13 November 2007
This briefing provided an update to Minister Clark on progress and sought Mlnlsterlal

approval to pursue negotiations, (a commitment of up to USD3 million NZD4 ) and
agreement to the parameters for the negotiations. The paper outlined two c action:

- Option 1 — negotiate to purchase the Panels
- Option 2 — defer consideration of purchase and deal with thQ iclaries of George

Ortiz's Estate %
The paper established parameters around the future offer otiations, including that
any offer for the Panels should be made on the followin gr

- that any offer was presented as a one-off ta av t' offer

- negotiations would be undertaken directl rather than through his
art dealer

- that if George Ortiz secured other priyate on S g to part-fund the difference
between the New Zealand Gov. @ﬁt‘s offe pnce acceptable to George
Ortiz, any additional funding wd% dis pﬂoted from the Government's offer. This
would follow the precedent negetiations for purchase of the Upham medals

- that the Ministry would & declaration that indicated the Government was
unaware of it having rest i tsuing the repatriation of other objects held
within George Ortiz's collecCtion qy legal means.

The briefing further a Mini rk that the Ministry had made contact and received
advice from two muée rof jonaJs in Europe that held a long-standing relationship with
George Ortiz. | approaches to negotiate be made directly to George
Ortiz rather th e ts hermore the Ministry believed that any offer must be made
with the ag =New Zealand Government would not seek to negotiate the
eld in George Ortiz's collection. The briefing sought Minister

Mlnlstry to make an offer of USD3 million for the purchase of the

qry of an internal document which outlined a future budget bid for 2008/2009
Flnan aI Year for the purchase of the Panels. Advice provided in the document
recommended that despite the seller's requested sale price of USD8 million the Ministry
considered the value may be a lot less due to the illicit circumstance of their collection by
George Ortiz. The paper recommended an offer of USD3 million to be made for the Panels
(approx. NZD4.5 million at the time). Te Papa had indicated it may provide up to NZD2
million from its acquisitions budget, drawn from over three financial years, towards the
purchase but this was to be confirmed by the Board of Te Papa at a later date.

%en th;get bids 2007 — November 2007
T
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31 Emails re: Motunui Budget bid documents — 10-11 December 2007

Emails sent internally within the Ministry, which contained a link to the final Motunui Panels’
Budget bid documents. In summary, the documents attached to the email outlined that
USD3 million was sought as a tagged contingency in the 2008/2009 Financial Year to
enable to Ministry to enter negotiations and offer to purchase the Panels.

Funding would have allowed the Ministry to enter negotiations with George Ortiz and
eventually purchase the Panels. Following Budget approval, the purchase would have seen
the Panels returned to the rightful owners, Te Atiawa. The Budget bid outlined that George
Ortiz's representatives have made a purchase price offer to the Governrn it D8.0
million. However, the Ministry recommended the market value was likely to € vicinity
of USD5-8 million. Taking into account the disputed acquisition of the nel value was
believed to be reduced to around USD3-5 million. The offer by ernment was
proposed to be significantly lower so as to not endorse the purc gal items. The
E%ngements However,

1.5 million) from its

Budget request also outlined that there were no alternative fundi
Te Papa indicated it would potentially allocate NZD2 mllllon
acquisitions budget over three financial years. :

2008 Documents

32 Budget 2008 — Comments on initial recom ﬁs fr%j’ L/Treasury BR2008/52
— 15 February 2008 -

This briefing provided background -;'“
Treasury’s Budget recommendatigng.\{
Budget bid for the Motunui Pa ,_ |cul %h if the Government did not take an
opportumty to purchase the Pangls ,- oov uld become harder to negotiate their return

highlighted concern regarding the

%arkr\ﬁ\ the Ministry’s response to The

in the future. >
33 Emails re: Motunui P ix dTe K ’s contribution — 26 March 2008

This email chain nternally within the Ministry. The emails confirmed

feedback had elv Mlnlster Clark. Minister Clark indicated that the Ministry
should recejve® 1rma fr m Te Papa that it could provide NZD2 million of funding
before proc mg Wlt dget bid application.

ey Ministry. The briefing informed the Minister that while no money was

\\@Ilocat ﬁ this Budget for the Panels, there were ongoing conversations taking place and

the ing allocation could be part of Vote Treaty Negotiations, the Office of Treaty
Set ent's Budget.

34 Bud et {1& ommendations — 11 April 2008
ﬁlefm@ provided an update to Minister Clark on the status of potential Budget
ids¥a

35 Letter to the Chief Executive of Te Papa — 15 April 2008

Letter from the Ministry to Te Papa which reconfirmed the New Zealand Government's offer
to purchase the Panels. The letter indicated that while George Ortiz was seeking USD8
million, the Ministry was willing to make an offer that was considerably less. The paper
requested that Te Papa seek approval from its Board to contribute NZD2 million from Te
Papa’s Acquisitions Budget over a number of years to be allocated towards the purchase
of the Panels.
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36 Emails — Motunui Panels valuation assessments — 9 May 2008

37

38

40

41

This paper provided a full valuation report of the Panels prepared by Te Papa. The valuation
was based on Te Papa's knowledge and experience working with Maori carvings and
taonga. This was to be used as an internal assessment only, particularly because the
Panels valuation process was very subjective due to a number of market factors, including
the illegal acquisition of the Panels.

The paper further noted that Te Papa was cautious about becoming involved and noted that
often when a museum becomes involved with a negotiation to purchase an item it can inflate
the price on the market. The paper discussed previous historic valuatigns er to
Appendix 1) in previous attempts to purchase the Panels. The assessment that the
Sotheby’s London valuation of the Panels in 1978 was GBP £500,00 m t a rate of
inflation would have been GBP £2,208,500 in 2007. However, this di mje into account
the market prices for Maori taonga over the last 20 years.

alysis with similar Maori
ction over the last 15 years.

Te Papa'’s final valuation was reached by a detailed comparatiy
taonga, including its insurance valuations and processes af

Te Papa’s final view was that in the open market the Panels#wvould hold a sale price of
anywhere between USD5 million-USD8 million. How: » most buyers would be aware of
the illegal history of the Panels which, in Te Papa's ulg=prevent a sale on the open

market.

item number 3 of this document.

Note: The valuation assessment also co@p@tz% briefing summarised at

Emails communication with the i Tr ettlements — 17 June 2008

This email chain confirmed di ns the Ministry and the Office of Treaty
Settlements (OTS). Q
o

Arts, Culture and Heyitage Fortpi %ﬂinisterial Report — 4 July 2008

Update provided inister @\gl;) the Ministry was seeking Cabinet approval for NZD2
million in fundi@i e ePto George Ortiz for the purchase of the Panels. Te Papa
had agreed.in prip an additional NZD2 million. The paper further discussed

iple vne
options fer the ernment might fund its NZD2 million allocation towards the
purcha

I@‘jﬂm Q plan meeting — 6 August 2008
fhese thyfiotes outlined a set of questions that needed to be discussed at a meeting

re notes were administrative in purpose and assigned duties to staff members.

39
aith O%@xcluding an update on the Treaty Settlement discussions with Te Atiawa. The

Arts, Culture and Heritage Fortnightly Ministerial Report — 15 August 2008

Fortnightly update provided to Minister Clark which advised that a draft Cabinet paper was
being prepared to seek approval for negotiations to begin with George Ortiz to purchase the
Panels. The update also confirmed that Te Papa's Board had agreed to allocate NZD2
million towards the purchase.

Email from the Ministry for Arts, Culture and Heritage to The Treasury and the
Department of Prime Minister and Cabinet re: Motunui Panels Cabinet paper — 25
August 2008
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43

E
e fi

Follow-up email from the Ministry to The Treasury and Department of Prime Minister and
Cabinet (DPMC) officials which informed them that a draft Cabinet paper was to be
circulated on 26 August 2008, seeking approval to:

- make an in-principle offer of USD3 million for the purchase of the Panels

- authorise the Minister for Arts, Culture and Heritage and the Minister for Treaty of
Waitangi Negotiations and the Minister of Finance the power to act to finalise
financial decisions on the fiscal impacts of the paper

- make payment of up to USD3 million (NZD4.5 million) to purchase the Pa@

Email — Motunui Panels Cabinet paper feedback — OTS — 27 August 20&

Acknowledgement from the Ministry for Culture and Heritage that back received
from OTS had been taken on board and considered in the final ipetpaper.

Arts, Culture and Heritage Fortnightly Ministerial Report—2¢ August 2008

Fortnightly update provided to Minister Clark advising that a'draft Cabinet paper had been
prepared by the Ministry seeking Cabinet approval to¥nake a one-off offer to George Ortiz
to purchase the Panels. The Ministry confirmed it wagwarkin h The Treasury and OTS
to determine which funding mechanism would ost s@fﬁl if the Government's offer

was to be accepted by George Ortiz.

Motunui Pataka Panels Cabinet pap R2008/52 %August 2008 and attached

draft Cabinet paper
In summary, this briefing paper provide ackgipund of the project to-date. It stated that
in November 2007 the Minis e‘F‘a& a~workplan for the Ministry to review options to
purchase the Panels. The %E nended oufcome was to make a one-off ‘take it or leave it
offer of USD3 million (N il :

subsequently made aBudget bid ferthe

alternative ways o dp the\ urch)
over five financi rse e?ng‘g "Government to contribute the remaining NZD2.5 million.
The briefing alsp prgvided further recommendations to the Minister for the project to proceed

including onfavenués @hase the panels and how to enter negotiations with Ortiz.
1

. %‘{g as a draft Cabinet paper, seeking a Cabinet mandate for the
Mi '§tgp}¢gro -i -wjth putting an offer of USD3 million (NZD4.5 million) to George Ortiz
faf the Panejs™The paper provided historical background to provide further context for the
é}gt embers. The paper advised that all avenues to purchase the Panels had been
%ﬁlﬁy the New Zealand Government over a long-term period from 1975-2005 and

ion was a one-off 'take it or leave it' offer of USD3million. The paper sought the

mah %{g to make this offer.

The Cabinet paper also sought approval to establish a non-departmental capital expenditure
appropriation titled the 'Purchase of the Panels,’ should the offer be accepted by George
Ortiz. The paper highlighted the benefits of purchasing the Panels as:

- the Panels are a taonga of national significance

- the Panels are significantly important to Te Atiawa and would build the Government’s
relationship with them

- ensuring that the Panels could not be sold to another buyer.
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45

46

47

48

The draft paper’s final recommendations were that Cabinet agree to mandate the Ministry to
make a one-off offer of USD3 million and to:

- agree that, if required, a non-departmental capital expenditure appropriation be
established

- agree that the scope of the appropriation be limited to the purchase of the Panels

- authorise the Minister for Arts, Culture and Heritage, the Minister for Treaty of
Waitangi Negotiations and the Associate Minister of Finance to make final financial
decisions

- agree that the changes to the appropriations for Financial Year 20 8/2009 be
included in the Financial Year 2008/2009 Supplementary Estimates

- note that the ownership, custody and display would need to be dlsc further
time, as would whether the purchase was inside or outside of th settlement
process ()

ated

- note that the Te Papa contribution would need to be further, @
@

Note: The above text was for the DRAFT Cabinet paper, the fin Q rsion that was delivered
to the Cabinet Committee differed slightly. Please refer to ‘) nt 50 for a summary for

the final version.

Email of Motunui Panels Cabinet paper — Email — 2 September 2008
This email chain confirmed that Minister Clar gned the Cabinet paper
and provided some feedback and changes Pa er 0 go to Cabinet the following
week (refer to previous summary of BR at n 44) once these changes were

made ’X
Te Papa’s financial situation b @- 10 @ er 2008
p

Briefing updating the Mmlst e Pa nanmal situation. The briefing outlined Te
Papa’s operating budget i P Ised that while it had the funds to allocate to
the purchase of the P |gn|f|cant implications for other acquisitions and
would impact fundi ble t p rt other strategic priorities for Te Papa.

Motunui Pan Approval required to make an offer to purchase the

Motunui P 0 SV@ er 2008
This C tZape@ Cabinet Policy Committee, sought approval for the Ministry to
mil

mak@ r lion (NZD4.5 million) for the purchase of the Panels.

’ ultur

rtnl épdata provided to Minister Clark that confirmed that following the Cabinet Policy
meeting, the Ministry had approached Te Papa to seek confirmation they would

pro unding for the full offer amount of NZD4.5 million, instead of the original contribution

of NZD2 million. Te Papa had been given a one-week deadline to confirm they could

allocate funding. The Ministry would provide the Minister's Office with a response for

forwarding to the Associate Minister of Finance once received. (Refer to Summary of Memo

from Te Papa dated 12 September 2008 at summary number 49).

Ca g

eritage Fortnightly Ministerial Report — 12 September 2008
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50

51

52

53

Memo from Te Papa to the Ministry for Culture and Heritage — Motunui Panels — 12
September 2008

This paper, addressed to the Ministry, confirmed that the Te Papa Board had agreed to
supply the full offer amount of NZD4.5 million from its acquisitions fund over a period of six
years.

BR2008/575 Motunui Panels Cabinet paper — Budget funding — 12 September 2008

This briefing attached a copy of the draft Cabinet paper seeking Cabinet approval for the
Ministry to make an offer of USD3 million (NZD4.5 million) for the purchase %wenels.
At the 10 September meeting, the Cabinet Committee requested that befor p%eéding the
Ministry approach Te Papa on whether its Board would agree to contribuest Il purchase
price of the Panels from its acquisitions budget. Following this, the Minj Wte to Te Papa
and it was agreed the Board would fund the full purchase {"ri USD3 million
(NZD4.5million) over a six-year period. This would require the esta (shment of a new non-
departmental Capital Expenditure budget line. Q

Cabinet minute CAB MIN(08) 36/8) following Cablr%;n ting — 15 September 2008
On 15 September 2008, Cabinet approved th Te Papa entering into
negotiations with George Ortiz and making an p to illion for the purchase
and return of the Panels.

Memo to Te Papa - Motunui Panels
purchase — 19 September 2008

@dﬂte to@ a non-negotiable offer for
:;%wmed background information on the

n writing that:

- on10 September >he Ca‘bget olicy Committee considered a paper to give

approval for |st make an offer to George Ortiz for the
% Is th ¢ Cahirtet Policy Committee requested the Ministry confirm
id

| provi L jll funding for the purchase price of the Panels before
gbuldbe,co |rmed
8

Panels. Folloy

if Te Papa €o

any decisionsge

- on 1?%3 ber e Papa’s Board wrote to the Ministry and confirmed it would
he fuII f

The ;;agie t he Cabinet paper had been resubmitted to Cabinet on 15 September
net agreed to mandate the Ministry and Te Papa to make an offer of up

U%S |I|% D4.5 million). This was on the proviso that should another high priority
ec ilable in the next six years, then a variation to the agreement could be
gotta% he paper also agreed that Te Papa would lead discussions on consultation and

lp, custody and future display with Te Atiawa.

Arts, Culture and Heritage Fortnightly Ministerial Report- BR2008/607 — 26
September 2008

The fortnightly update provided to Minister Clark confirmed that Te Papa had agreed to
contribute USD3 million (NZD4.5 million) from its acquisitions budget over six years to
enable to the Government to make an offer to George Ortiz. This was approved by Cabinet
on 15 September 2008. The update noted that should the exchange rate fluctuate then the
Government would be required to meet the price difference. As a next step the Ministry
would work with Te Papa to discuss the best way to make an offer to George Ortiz.
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54 Motunui Panels’ workplan — 8 October 2008

55

56

57

58

A draft workplan prepared following a meeting between the Ministry and Te Papa, to discuss
next steps. The Ministry agreed that Associate Minister Okeroa would be asked to approach
Te Atiawa to keep them informed of the process. The workplan timeframe was from 8
October to 3 November 2008.

Key questions discussed at the meeting to continue to move the project forward were:
- when would be the best time to make an offer?
- how should an offer be approached? ‘ V

- what is the best approach?
- who should make an offer?
- what is the key state of mind of George Ortiz in regard to selllrd\C)

Email to Musée du quai Branly — 22 October 2008

Email between the Ministry and Musée du quai Branly whi %ht to set an appropriate
time to talk with the museum representative over the ph ne purpose of the call was to
inform the representative that the Ministry was goi roceed with negotiations and
wanted to seek advice on the best way to approach to open them. The Musée
du quai Branly representative mentioned at that }i E%%mz was unwell and had

been hospitalised but confirmed that they would Tgllo th
ankr

quai 23 October 2008

File note: Phone conversation with M {ad

The Ministry held a telephone call wijtk - rofessional from Musée du quai Branly
to discuss the best way to -@:- rge rtlz o negotiate the return of the Panels. The
conversation discussed the gossibility t orge Ortiz’s health had declined and
proceeding with negotiationsay, be diffic he museum representative mentioned that
there would be no buyer for the Pan ot er than the New Zealand Government as so

many institutions wer@/ awar ackground to the Panels.
Arts, Culture an@ ge ightly Ministerial Report— BR2008/645 — 24 October
2008 %
Fortnight protided to Minister Clark highlighted that Te Papa would soon make an
offer to Orti dvice was being sought from key contacts so that an offer could
rr% @“HIZ once the correct process was established.
ote: w conversation with museum professional from a university in the
— 24 October 2008

Fil N@cording a phone conversation between the Ministry and a museum professional
fro niversity in the United Kingdom on 24 October 2008 to discuss the best way to
approach George Ortiz to negotiate the return of the Panels. The museum professional
mentioned that George Ortiz was unwell, and they were unsure of who was currently
responsible for his collection, but they would contact the Ortiz family to request further
information. The museum professional from the university advised that it could be seen
favourably if Te Atiawa was to make an offer directly and perhaps that would be an option
for further consideration. The agreed action was that the museum professional from the
university and the Musée du quai Branly would contact George Ortiz's wife to ascertain if
Ortiz's health was improving and to enquire about the collection in more general terms.
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59 Email update from Musée du quai Branly — 29 October 2008

60

61

62

63

) tun i

The museum professional from the Musée du quai Branly emailed the Ministry to advise
that George Ortiz's estate had entered the joint care of an administrator and the Ortiz family.
The museum professional from the Musée du quai Branly advised the Ministry that it was
important that the Government at least acknowledge its interest in entering negotiations
with the temporary administrators. The Ministry confirmed that it agreed this would be the
best option and would be drafting a letter for the Minister's consideration for sending to
George Ortiz.

Motunui Pataka Panels: Update and draft Letter — 31 October 2008

The Ministry provided an update to the Minister to relay that George Qrti s seriously
unwell and that his collection had temporarily entered independent admihistration. The
museum professionals from the university in the United Kingdom éh usée du quai
Branly had advised the Ministry that, due to George Orti %dical situation, the
Government should send a letter registering their interest in %a els. They advised a
letter would be sensitive to the current c:lrcumstances wifilealso establishing a link to
George Ortiz's estate. It had been reported that the familythad’no interest in keeping the

collection following George Ortiz's death. The final lettér rafted to George Ortiz requested

to view the Panels and to enter further negotiation % bns
Email from Ministry for Culture and Heritag Arts re and Heritage Private

Secretary in Associate Minister Okerozgf.ﬂc ber 2008

An email from the Ministry to the Pri ret sociate Minister Okeroa's Office
requested that because Hon Okeroa- 6t be n -elected in the 2008 General Election
could he update his contact at T. Qa a ab anels before departing. Hon Okeroa
was unable to contact Te Atra e Mlnistry with the appropriate contact

details.

T ﬁ'@a representative — 21 November 2008

File Note — Conversatic

)
The purpose of th%all fas to\ date Te Atiawa on developments on the project. The Te
Atiawa repres e’was”advised that due to George Ortiz's ill health an offer would
regrettably ade t.this |me. Te Atiawa were informed that the Minister had sent a
letter ex e%@ ealand Government's interest in entering negotiations for the
Panelsg e The Te Atiawa representative expressed the view that the
Gov rnm too sensitive, and the offer should go ahead. Te Atiawa did

Ahegirc mstance for why an offer would not be made and noted the Panels
he'rohe when they were ready.

ataka Panels update — BR2008/696 — 2 December 2008

.
The'2008 New Zealand General Election was held on 8 November 2008 and resulted in a
change in Government. Hon Chris Finlayson was appointed as the Minister for Arts, Culture
and Heritage. The Ministry for Culture and Heritage provided a briefing to the incoming
Minister to update him on the background of the Panels. The briefing also included more
recent decisions such as the previously outlined Cabinet Minutes of 15 September 2008
which approved the Ministry and Te Papa to make an in-principle offer of USD3 million
(NZD4.5 million) for the purchase of the Panels. The briefing paper outlined that George
Ortiz was now unwell and not fit to participate in negotiations; and that a letter had been
sent to George Ortiz's administrators registering the New Zealand Government's interest in
the Panels. At the time of writing the briefing a response had yet to be received from the
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administrators. The paper also informed the Minister that Te Atiawa had been kept informed
during the process.

Letter received 5 December 2008 from Ortiz family

Letter received from the Ortiz family. The purpose of the letter was to inform the Ministry
that Mr Ortiz was regrettably unwell, and his affairs had been put on hold. The Ortiz family
gave her assurances that if the Panels were to be sold in the future then the New Zealand
Government would be contacted.

2009 Documents ?5/

65

66

END OF SUMMARY - No fi

Motunui Pataka Panels— Update and return letter — BR2009/09 — @ry 2009

letter received from the Ortiz family in early December. The ecommended that a

The Ministry provided Minister Finlayson with an update on 14 J 09 regarding the
response letter be sent to reaffirm New Zealand'’s InteresEPanels but to leave the

decision to the George Ortiz family to recommence negotiationg at its request. The formal
response letter confirmed that there had been a ral Election in New Zealand in

November 2008 and that there was now a new Gov , but it reaffirmed that the new
Government was still interested in negotiating th v%a f the! Panels and would welcome
the opportunity to enter into discussions when@ wa uitable for the family.
Letter to Te Papa — January 2009

A formal letter was sent to Te Papa. % Exeé&'\ée advising that all steps to return the
Panels were on temporary hold. Th@i er ipditated that due to George Ortiz's health
issues all negotiations be postpo til the Qrtiz family was in a position to recommence
discussions. New Zealand's infegest’in the Is was reconfirmed by return letter.

rth eco@zld by the Ministry documenting the return of
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Appendix 1: History of Motunui Panels referred to throughout summary of documents
Background

“In 1972 Melville Manukonga found five carved panels from the front of a pataka in a swamp
near Motunui (Taranaki). The five separate panels form the end wall of a pataka. They were
probably carved before 1820 by Atiawa, in the Waitara area, and illustrate the ariki lines of
Taranaki. They were hidden in a swamp during a period of intertribal warfare. The panels depict
the unity of Te Atiawa, represent their tribal mana and have a known whakapapa. There is no
doubt that they are of major significance to the iwi and are considered to be of national
significance. A number of scholars attest to the unique artistic and spiritual significance of the

panels.

from London, who lllegally exported them contrary to the Historic Aﬁlcles Acty I\predecessor
to the Antiquities Act 1975, now the Protected Objects Act 1975). Entw _ ubsequently sold

them to Bolivian/Swiss tin magnate George Ortiz, along with falsified ance documents.
Subsequently in 1978, Ortiz was forced to raise money to pay a/ m for his kidnapped
%n\d public recognised the
tion of the appropriate New

daughter and put the panels up for sale. A member of the New Z
panels on a television news item about the sale and drew the at
Zealand authorities. 2

The matter was taken to Cabinet and the then govern ’ t Crown Counsel should
be instructed to take all necessary steps to secure t rn to New land of the five panels.
Under threat of a court order preventing the sale o pan s; ) were withdrawn from sale
by mutual agreement pending clarification of 'r owner ‘the matter eventually came
before the British High Court. On a prelimin :_’f rthe ound in New Zealand's favour,
House of Lords reversed that decision.

It has been a consistent basis of the " Mpts eco the panels that Ortiz has never had
actual ownership of them. The New Z %t@ cas wa Iost on prellmlnary matters (status of the
enforceability of the Historic Articl

\Pthattite tlie carvings were estimated to be worth approximately

E 0, October 1985 put the direct cost to the government
1995 ith dealers indicated a price of around US$5 million was

at approximately $320 0
$1.2 million. DISC i
being sought.

[t should a % no % ghe Ortiz case was one of the main reasons for the recent
lig |ng

amendmen islation by the Protected Objects Amendment Act 20086, including
Zealand's accession to the 1970 UNESCO Convention and 1995

Provua palle @
OIT €on E on Stolen or lllegally Exported Cultural Objects. Ourimminent accession
finot b

IT Convention affects this case in no way, as proceedings under both
e retrospective.

en IO

Subsed& t attempts to repatriate the panels

There is a long history of attempts to repatriate the panels. Immediately following the
government’s court proceedings, the Atiawa owners of the land where the panels had been
found took an action, but this failed against provisions of the Limitations Act.

On 28 April 1983, Ortiz made an indirect approach to the Attorney-General of New Zealand with
an offer to exchange the panels for “Kawe”, a carving from Nukuoro Atoll in the Carolines, and
internationally regarded as one of the most important Pacific artefacts in the world. The value
of "Kawe” was far in excess of the panels, and the deal did not, of course, proceed. “Kawe” is
currently in Auckland Museum's collection.



Another effort towards return was made in 1995, when Carrad and Fitzgerald, a New Zealand
public relations firm, made an approach to the then Prime Minister with information that the
panels were on the market and that Ortiz had indicated through his London agent that he was
prepared to sell them to New Zealand. Te Papa staff met with Paul Carrad, and it became clear

that Ortiz was only prepared to sell to New Zealand if it was acknowledged that he was the
rightful owner of the panels. On this basis the offer lapsed.”

Text taken directly from BR2006/825 at document 4 in the summary.





